

No: 29188 - 05/23 rev. 2

Wattstopper[®]

LMBR-650 Setup and Commissioning User Guide

This document provides step-by-step details on the process needed to commission one or more LMBR-650s and discover all wireless devices in a DLM network.

This document covers only the steps needed for commissioning and wireless discovery. For further details on LMCS programming, including creating wireless scenes and schedules, see the LMCS-100 Operation Manual, available at: https://www.legrand.us/wattstopper/digital-lighting-management/configuration-controls/dlm-computer-interface-tools-and-software.aspx.

For details on using DLM Dashboard software with the LMBR-650, see the DLM Dashboard User Guide.

CONTENTS

Connecting LMCS-100 to a Network and Creating a Site	1
Connecting to a Network or Room	2
Logging in to Your Account or Requesting an Account	2
Creating a Site	3
Connecting to a Network with both Wired and Wireless Rooms	4
LMBR-650 Network Setup	4
Network/Device Discovery and Device Pairing Wizard	4
Adding Unassigned Devices to a Room and Pairing Them	14
Discovering Wired Devices Connected to an LMBC-650	14
Viewing LMBR-650 and Wireless Network Information	15
Changing the Primary LMBR-650 in a Multi-LMBR Project	17
BACnet Information Section	17
Using the Diagnostics Section to Check and View Network Information.	18
Discovering New Rooms or Devices in a Previously Discovered Network	18
For Wireless Networks	18
Adding Devices Previously Paired with Push-to-Pair or the DLM Config App	18
Bringing Previously Paired Devices into LMCS	19
If Retaining the Load Binding from PnL or the DLM Config App	21
If Creating Load Binding in LMCS	22
If Replacing or Resetting an LMBR-650	25
Replacing an LMBR-650 in a Multi-LMBR Network	25
Replacing the LMBR-650 in a Single LMBR Network	26

CONNECTING LMCS-100 TO A NETWORK AND CREATING A SITE

Connecting to a wireless network requires creating a site, so that the network is secure and accessible only to those with proper permissions.

The following is a basic summary of these steps:

- Open LMCS-100
- · Log into your user account or request an account if you do not have one.
- Create a site, or open a previously created site.
- Select the connection Type and Adapter use to connect to the network. (This can be done before or after logging in and creating a site.)
- Discover the LMBR-650s used in this site. This will lock the LMBRs so that they can only be accessed by your account or other authorized accounts.

- Discover all wireless DLM devices within range of the LMBR. Only devices wit the same Network and Channel settings as the LMBR will be found. New devices all ship with default values, so in a new site all devices should be found.
- Select the devices that you want to be part of the network with the LMBR. After selection they will migrate to a new Network with the LMBR. In a scenario with multiple LMBRs, each LMBR will have its own Network and Channel settings, so each group of devices you select will migrate to the Network of that LMBR.
- For each room pair the wireless devices together so that they only communicate with each other and not with devices in other rooms.

Once these steps are complete, you can adjust device parameter values for rooms that were already creating using an off-line project, or modify current parameters in real time and send them to the devices.

Connecting to a Network or Room

Select the connection appropriate to the project you are working on. Select "Network", then select the **Adapter** that provides the connection to that network.



For applications with multiple rooms networked together using BACnet, the available BACnet networks will show up in the list. The "Remote Connection" value allows you to remotely connect to a network controller via an Internet connection for remote discovery, read, and send commands.

Logging in to Your Account or Requesting an Account

1. To log in to your account, click Menu in the Account section of the ribbon and select Log In.



- 2. Enter your User Name and Password. Once logged in, the "lock" in the Account icon will change from red to green.
- **NOTE:** You must be connected to the Internet the first time you log in to your account on a specific PC. This will download the needed security certificates that will be used with the site. Once this is done, it is possible to log in while off-line, create sites, and then upload them to the cloud at a later point. If you log in on a different PC at a later time, you will once again need to be initially connected to the Internet.

If you do not already have an account, you can request one from within LMCS (you must be connected to the INTERNET). Note that it is also possible to request an account through the DLM Config App for mobile devices.

1. Select "Request Account" from the menu to open the **Register** dialog.

Register	Dialog
legister	2
First Name	
Last Name	
Company	
Email	
Mobile Phone	
Prefer Email	
Password	ũ
Verify Password	
Request A	Account

.

- 2. Enter information in all fields. Passwords must follow these rules: at least 8 characters long, containing at least one capital letter and one number.
- 3. After requesting an account, an email will be sent to the address entered here once the account has been authorized. LMCS will not provide any indication that the account has been authorized.

Creating a Site

After logging in, the next step is to create a Site. A site allows you to save all Project parameters onto the cloud, so they can easily be accessed from more than one computer. Additionally, the Site provides security, as only the user who creates the site and any other users who are specifically authorized will be able to access the site data as well as the devices themselves.

1. From the Menu in the Account section of the ribbon, select "New Site". The Manage Site dialog opens.

nage Site			
Site Information		Site Primary Contact	
Site Name* :	David's Office 8	Name* : David Fox	
Description* :	Office	Phone :	
Square Footage:		Email :	
Date Created: Date Last Modified:	5/1/2020 7:55:50 PM 5/1/2020 7:55:52 PM		
Location		Notes	
Address 1:			
Address 2:			
City* :	Carlsbad		
State* :	CA	-	
Zip Code:			
Latitude:			
Longitude:			
Manago utility		Cana	Cancol

2. You must enter all fields marked with an asterisk. Others are optional.

The Site Primary Contact section is used if you need to recover site information. A code can be sent to the user from Wattstopper support, to unlock the site information.

The Latitude and Longitude fields are for informational purposes only. (There are other Latitude and Longitude fields, in the Set Site Time dialog which are used for Astro scheduling, to determine the exact times of sunrise and sunset—see the section on DLM Site Time/Location in the LMCS-100 Operation manual. But any information entered on the Manage Site dialog does not affect the fields in that dialog.)

 Click Save. LMCS will create the site on the cloud. Only the site is created at this point, with no project attached. Once you have created a project, or begun partial work on it, clicking Save will save that project to disk. To save the project to the site, click Save To Cloud.

Connecting to a Network with both Wired and Wireless Rooms

In the case of a network with both wired and wireless rooms, the wired rooms will include an LMBC-650 network bridge. The process of connecting to this network is identical to the process for an all wireless network. However, during the wireless discovery process, for rooms with wired devices you will only discover the wireless bridge in each room. After that, from within the page for the bridge itself, you can run a separate discovery to discover the wired devices connected to that bridge. For details, see the section on the LMBC-650 in the LMCS-100 Operation Manual.

Additionally, an LMBC-650 can support a hybrid room with both wired and wireless devices. In this case, the wireless devices are discovered along with the LMBC-650, and the wired devices discovered separately.

LMBR-650 NETWORK SETUP

IMPORTANT – At default, the LMBR-650 is configured for DHCP and requires DNS to provide it with a IP address before you can even connect to it. Therefore, all LMBR-650s (as well as the computer) must be connected to a router when you initially discover it within LMCS. If you do not plan to have the router permanently connected to the network, you must switch the LMBR-650 to a static IP address, once it has been discovered. If there are multiple LMBR-650s, set each one to a different IP address and they will all be able to communicate both with LMCS and with each other.

Therefore, Wattstopper recommends the following steps for setting up communication between LMCS and all LMBR-650s in your project:

- 1. Connect your PC and all LMBRs to a router. If there is more than one LMBR, one will be used as the Primary and should be connected to the others using Ethernet cable, via a switch.
 - **NOTE:** It is Wattstopper best practice that the Primary LMBR be used only for communication with other LMBRs and not have any wireless devices assigned to its network. Therefore, the Primary LMBR will often be mounted in a network enclosure and will only communicate via Ethernet cable and not with its wireless radio. Because of this, it is important to note the MAC address of that LMBR to make sure that it is designated the primary LMBR (see steps 5 and 12).
- 2. Follow steps 1 through 5 of the Discovery wizard, described on the following pages.
- 3. If the router will not be permanently connected to the LMBRs, set the IP address of each router to a static IP address, as described in steps 6 through 11.
- 4. Change the Primary LMBR, if needed, as described in step 12.
- 5. Start the Discovery wizard a second time. After rediscovering the LMBRs, continue with device discovery and pairing, as shown starting in step 13.
- **NOTE:** It is also possible to run through the entire discovery process first, then go back and change to static IP addresses. Both methods work equally well, but if you need to change the Primary LMBR, you will want to stop the discovery process to do that and then resume.

NOTE: If the router will remain permanently connected to the LMBRs, there is no need to switch them to static IP.

NETWORK/DEVICE DISCOVERY AND DEVICE PAIRING WIZARD

A wizard walks you through the process of discovering LMBR-650s, assigning network IDs, discovering wireless devices, and pairing them in rooms.

- 1. In order to discover devices in a wireless network, you must first log in to your cloud account and create a site or open a site previously created for the project, as described in the first section of this document.
- Once this is complete, click **Discover** on either the **Home** tab or the information section for the New Building. The **Discover** Networks dialog opens and the discovery starts automatically. All routers found on the network are listed. This will include both LMBRs and NB Routers. Each router displays the its current IP address. An LMBR-650 will also display its MAC address after the IP address.

The status note above the list indicates the process in the discovery. It first will attempt to discover LMBRs, then discover other BACnet Networks on other routers. Finally, it will display the message "Select which networks to add to the current project."

Once the LMBR-650 is found, if it has never been configured, it will display "[Single - Uncommissioned]", indicating it is at the default values and that each LMBR is treated as a separate wireless router.

Discover Networks

01763-192.168.1.113 [0004741636e3] LMBR-650 [Single - Uncom 00189-192.168.1.112 [0004741610bd] LMBR-650 [Single - Uncom	nissioned] nissioned]
00189-192.168.1.112 [0004741610bd] LMBR-650 [Single - Uncom	missioned]
Select All Select None	
2:55:40 - Discovering LMBRs	
2:55:45 - Discovering BACnet networks 2:55:49 - Eailed to discover any BACnet networks. Verify correct net	work is selected and correct I
2:55:49 - [0004741610bd]: Reading network settings	work is selected and correct i
2:55:49 - [0004741636e3]: Reading network settings	
DEFER Coloct which potworks to add to the surrout project	
7: 33: 37 • Select Which betworks to about to the current brolect	

- 3. Select one or more of the LMBR-650s. Click Add. A new dialog pops up that allows you to select the Network ID and Channel the LMBR will use to communicate with the wireless DLM devices. It will pick a couple of numbers automatically. The Name used to identify the LMBR will be set to the MAC address of the LMBR. If you want to change either or both of the numbers or create a custom name, click Configure and the fields will be enabled for editing. If you click Use Defaults, the fields are disabled and set to the values chosen by LMCS.
 - **NOTE:** If there are multiple LMBR-650s, each one must be set to a different **Network ID**. The **Channel** can be the same on multiple LMBRs, but Wattstopper recommends that each one use a different channel.

Network Configuration with fields enabled

	Jernen - Serner - Ser
LMBR Network Configuration	LMBR Network Configuration
To add the LMBR-650 [0004741636e3] to the project, the following wireless network profile will be created:	To add the LMBR-650 [0004741636e3] to the project, the following wireless network profile will be created:
Profile Configure Use Defaults	Profile Configure Use Defaults
Name:	Name:
0004741636e3	0004741636e3
Network ID:	Network ID:
4843	4843
Channel:	Channel:
15	15
Time Zone:	Time Zone:
(UTC-06:00) Central Time (US 🔻	(UTC-06:00) Central Time (US 🔻
Create	Create Cancel

- 4. Click **Create**. The LMBR will be configured for the chosen **Network ID** and **Channel**. A pop-up will appear informing you that the clock on the LMBR has been reset. You can update the time in the LMBR using the Site Time/Location Tool. See the LMCS-100 Operation Manual for details.
- 5. If you have selected more than one LMBR, once the network configuration is complete, the process will repeat for each subsequent LMBR, with different default values for each LMBR network. Once all networks are configured, the Discover Networks Dialog changes to show the number of Networks added.
 - If there is only a single LMBR, it will show that LMBR with "Single" in the description.

I MBR Network Configuration

• If there are multiple LMBRs, LMCS will configure the first one in the list to be the Primary LMBR and the others will be considered secondary LMBRs. The primary LMBR will be enabled, while the others are disabled. Although the first LMBR is picked as primary by default, it is likely that a specific LMBR will be intended to be the primary by virtue of where it is installed. You may therefore need to change the Primary, as discussed in step 12.

Added Networks

01763-192.168.1.113 [0004741636e3] LN	IBR-650 [Primary - 0004741636e3]
00189-192.168.1.112 [0004741610bd] LN	IBR-650 [Secondary of 0004741636e3 - 0004741610
Select All Select None	
3:37:16 - Setting LMBR 0004741636e3 to pr	imary
3:37:16 - Checking LMBR-650 [00047416366	23] network settings.
3:37:18 - Setting LMBR 0004741636e3 as pr	imary
3:37:18 - Setting LMBR 0004741610bd as se	condary of LMBR 0004741636e3
3:37:34 - 0004741636e3 set as Primary.	
D. D. D. D. M. Markenselver, Adda d. D.	

6. If the router connected to the LMBRs and computer is going to be removed after configuration, you need to configure the routers for a static IP address, as shown in the following steps. Click **Close** to exit the Discovery wizard.

NOTE: If the router is going to remain permanently connected, you can skip to step 14. However, if you need to switch the Primary LMBR, you will still need to click **Close** and instead go to step 12.

7. Click the Networks tab. Expand the tree and highlight the first LMBR in the tree.

LMBR-650 Information

∞ Networks ≪			_		3	
Search	Description:		Update Firmware	Soft Reboot	Add to Existing Network	Enable Device Harvesting
- 📮 Davids Office	IP Address:	192.168.1.113	Factory Reset	Restart	Run Backup	
Unassigned Devices		Configure	Retrieve Logs	Replace Router	Status	
LMBR-650			Last known firmware version	n: 10.105		

8. Click **Configure**. The **LMBR IP Configuration** dialog opens. By default the, "Obtain an IP Address automatically" option is selected.

LMBR IP Configuration

Obtain an IP Add	ress automatically
O Use the following	IP Address:
IP address:	
Subnet mask:	
Default gateway:	
DNS server:	

9. Select "Use the following IP Address:". The fields are enabled and populated with default values.

Obtain an IP Ad	dress automatically
Ose the followin	g IP Address:
IP address:	192.168.5.243
Subnet mask:	255.255.255.0
Default gateway:	192.168.1.1
DNS server:	8.8.8.8

- 10. Change the values of the different parameters, if needed. Note that the default IP address will be different from the value assigned through DHCP. Click **OK** to change the LMBR to the new values.
- 11. If there are additional LMBRs, repeat steps 7 through 10 for each LMBR. Each LMBR must be set to a different IP address.
- 12. If you need to change the Primary LMBR, now is a good time to do it, before resuming the discovery process. Highlight the network under the intended LMBR in the tree, and click the **Is Primary** checkbox. See <u>"Changing the Primary LMBR-650 in a Multi-LMBR Project" on page 17</u> for more details.
- 13. Once all LMBRs are set to a static IP address, return to step 2 and begin discovery again. This time, instead of showing up in the list as "Uncommissioned", the networks are displayed.

Networks	
01763-192,168	. 1.113 [0004741636e3] LMBR-650 [Primary - 0004741636e3]
00189-192,168	.1.112 [0004741610bd] LMBR-650 [Secondary of 0004741636e3 - 000474161
Select All	Select None
10.00.40 Discours	ring LMBRs
10:00:40 - DISCOVE	
10:00:40 - Discove 10:00:45 - Discove	ring BACnet networks
10:00:40 - Discove 10:00:45 - Discove 10:00:49 - Failed t	ring BACnet networks o discover any BACnet networks. Verify correct network is selected and correc
10:00:40 - Discove 10:00:45 - Discove 10:00:49 - Failed t 10:00:49 - [00047	ring BACnet networks o discover any BACnet networks. Verify correct network is selected and correc 41636e3]: Reading network settings
10:00:49 - Discove 10:00:49 - Failed t 10:00:49 - [00047 10:00:49 - [00047	ring BACnet networks o discover any BACnet networks. Verify correct network is selected and correc 41636e3]: Reading network settings 41610bd]: Reading network settings
10:00:40 - Discove 10:00:45 - Discove 10:00:49 - Failed t 10:00:49 - [00047 10:00:49 - [00047 10:00:51 - Select v	ring BACnet networks o discover any BACnet networks. Verify correct network is selected and correct 41636e3]: Reading network settings 41610bd]: Reading network settings vhich networks to add to the current project.
10:00:40 - Discove 10:00:45 - Discove 10:00:49 - Failed t 10:00:49 - [00047 10:00:49 - [00047	ring BACnet networks o discover any BACnet networks. Verify correct network is selected and correct 41636e3]: Reading network settings 41610bd]: Reading network settings which networks to add to the current project.

Select all the LMBRs and click **Add**. After the wizard completes adding the LMBRs, the Add button changes to Discover, as shown in step 5 on the previous page.

14. Click **Discover**. The **LMBR Selection** dialog displays, showing each LMBR that you previously configured, with a Wireless network below each LMBR. The networks are labeled showing both the MAC address (or Name) and the Network ID of each LMBR, so that you can distinguish them.

From this dialog, you have two choices:

- If you are discovering devices in a site for the first time, **deselect** the **Discover commissioned devices** checkbox. When you click **Next** you will go to the **Uncommissioned Device Discovery and Network Assignment** dialog. This is described starting in the next step.
- If you are on a site in which devices were previously discovered but for some reason they are not in the currently LMCS site file (for example, they were deleted by accident), leave the **Discover commissioned devices** checkbox selected. When you click **Next** you will go to the **Discovering Commissioned Devices** dialog. This will allow you to rediscover those devices and re-pair them without having to reset those devices. This is described in Step 23 on page 12.

LMBR Selection

Wireless Device Discovery and Commissioning	
LMBR Selection	
	Copy Log Next Cancel
Discover commissioned devices	
OR	
Select an LMBR to use to search for uncommissioned device	es:
Select Network:	
Wireless Network [0004741636e3 - 1936]	
Wireless Network [0004741610bd - 49989]	
03:56:07 - Checking I MBR-650 [0004741610bd] network settings.	
03:56:07 - Checking LMBR-650 [0004741636e3] network settings.	

Click the network of one of the LMBRs to highlight it and then click **Next**. Note that once the **Discover commissioned devices** checkbox is deselected, the **Next** button is disabled until you select a network.

NOTE: You configure one LMBR at a time—once you finish configuring this one, you will return here to configure the next one.

- **NOTE:** In a multi-LMBR site, it is Wattstopper best practice that the Primary LMBR be used only for communication with other LMBRs and not have any wireless devices assigned to its network. Therefore, you need to be aware of which one is the Primary and select a different network in which to discover and commission the wireless devices.
- 15. If you deselected the **Discover commissioned devices** checkbox, LMCS temporarily returns that LMBR to the default Network ID and Channel, so the LMBR can communicate with the wireless DLM devices still at default configuration. Then the **Uncommissioned Device Discovery and Network Assignment** dialog displays, and the LMBR begins searching for all wireless DLM devices set at their default values. Depending on the number of devices, this can take a little bit of time.

Any wireless room or plug load controllers and LMBC-650 bridges will automatically display once found. But for all battery devices (sensors and switches), you must wake up the device by pressing the Configure button. This is located on the front cover for sensors. For switches, it is behind the switch plate cover and will require a small tool or paper clip.



Once woken up, the battery devices will remain awake for five minutes while the LMBR establishes contact. However, once you begin the next series of steps, LMCS takes control of the devices and they will remain awake for as long as is needed for LMCS to complete the process of moving the devices to the LMBR's network and pairing the devices in rooms.

Uncommissioned Device Discover and Network Assignment

raign wireless devices to a network from LMRP (00047/	4161			CopyLog	Nex	+	Cancel
sight whereas devices to a network from Linder (00047-	101			Copy Log			Cancer
elect Network:				Mesh Repair	Reboot D	evices	Options
New Project				Copy Table	🔽 Leaf D	evices	Device count:
Default Building		Search			2		
Wireless Network [0004741610bd	. [Туре	Serial	Version	Hops	l. al	•
✓ LMBR-650		LMRC-611MCC	A4A9	10.03	1		۲
Wireless Network [0004741636e3	•	🔲 (j):) LMPX-600	5110	10.03	1	al	۲
		LMRC-611MCC	9DFA	10.03	1	al	۲
		Q LMPC-600	4110	10.03	1	al	1
		E LMRC-611MCC	9830	10.03	1		۲
		🔲 🛱 LMRC-611MCC	4967	10.03	1	al.	۲
		🔲 问:) LMPX-600	7110	10.03	1	al	۲
		🔲 🥥 LMDL-600	2110	10.03	1	al	۲
		EMPC-600	F110	10.03	1	- 41	۲
		LMSW-605	7110	10.03	1	al	۲
		LMSW-605	A110	10.03	1	- 41	۲
		🗌 🔞 Unknown	43D2	10.03	1	15	۲
		C A LMBC-650	2A0D	10.03	1		۲
			lick in box	of undiscovere	d device		
new devices found.		te	o move it te	o the top of the	list and		
canning for new devices		p	rioritize dis	scovery			

As the LMBR finds the various devices, they are initially displayed as an unknown device, and once the LMBR has retrieved enough information, the **Type** and **Serial** number columns will display that information. The signal strength column shows a red X until all device information has been retrieved. The signal strength icon then changes to blue to indicate that the device is fully discovered.

While the devices are being discovered, clicking on the checkbox next to that device that has not been fully discovered will move it to the top of the list to prioritize discovery of that device. So in situations in which there are a large number devices, and you are only looking for certain ones, you can speed up the process by clicking on the devices you know that you want to discover. You can click **Pause Scan** so that the list will not reorder while you attempt to click on devices, then resume the scan.

- **NOTE:** The **Serial** column displays the last four digits of the MAC address. Although every MAC address is unique, because the MAC is 12 digits long, it is possible for the last four digits to be the same on more than one device, as shown in the example above.
- **NOTE:** If you have a room with an LMBC-650 wireless bridge and wired devices, you will only discover the LMBC-650 at this point. After wireless discovery is complete, you will discover the wired devices from the LMBC-650 window, as described later in this section. See <u>"Discovering Wired Devices Connected to an LMBC-650" on page 14</u>.
- **NOTE:** If devices are not showing up in the list or are taking a long time to connect, clicking **Mesh Repair** may help. This will cause the devices to build new communication routes back to the LMBR-650.
- **NOTE:** If you click **Copy Log**, the log messages displayed at the bottom are copied into your edit buffer and can then be pasted to a text editor.
- **NOTE:** If you click **Copy Table**, the Type, Serial, Firmware version, Hops, and RSSI (Signal Strength) for each discovered device will be copied to the clipboard, for documentation purposes. Fields are comma delineated. Unknown devices are included. For example:

LMRC-611MCC, A4A9, 10.03, 1, -22

LMPX-600, 5110, 10.03, 1, -24

Unknown, 43D2, , 1,

16. Once all the desired devices have been fully discovered, click on the checkbox next to each device that you want to move to LMBR's network. The LMBR begins the process of moving the device to the new Network ID and Channel of the LMBR, and the checkbox will turn blue when complete.

IMPORTANT: If you have more than one LMBR, be sure to select **only** the devices that you want to assign to this particular LMBR. After completing assigning devices to this LMBR, you will repeat the process for each additional LMBR.

NOTE: The LMBR may have to try several times to communicate with a device to get it to move to the LMBR's network. You may see failure messages in the log at the bottom. But the LMBR will keep trying until it has successfully moved all selected devices. (If you click **Next**, that will stop the move process.)

Vireless Device Discovery and Commissioning						
Uncommissioned Device Discovery and	Network Assignment	t				
Assign wireless devices to a network from LMBR (000474)	16 10bd)		Copy Log	Nex	(t	Cancel
Select Network:			Mesh Repair	Reboot D	evices	Options
👻 🚔 New Project			Copy Table	✓ Leaf D	evices De	vice count: 1
✓ Lage Default Building	Search					
 LMBR-650 Wireless Network [0004741610bd 	Туре	Serial	Version	Hops	d	Ô
- LMBR-650		04409	10.03	1	al	
Wireless Network [0004741636e3		5110	10.03	1	al	
		ODEA	10.03	1		
		4110	10.03	1		
		0920	10.03	1		
		9030	10.03	1		۲
		7110	10.03	1		۲
		7110	10.03	1		۲
		2110	10.03	1		•
	□ <u>©</u> LMPC-600	F110	10.03	1		1
	✓ U LMSW-605	7110	10.03	1	- All	۲
	UMSW-605	A110	10.03	1	all	۲
	✓ (2) LMDL-600	43D2	10.03	1	all	۲
	LMBC-650	2A0D	10.03	1	्या	۲
	Click	the checkbc	x for each devid	ce vou		
0 new devices found.	want	to add to the	e LMBR's netwo	rk. Whe	n	
Reading routes tables	the bo	ox turns blue	e, it has been ac	ded		1
0 new devices found.						

- 17. Once all of the selected devices have been moved, click **Next**. The **Room Assignment** dialog opens. This dialog provides the ability to create rooms and areas, assign the various devices into those rooms, and finally pair the devices in that room so they communicate with each other and not with devices in other rooms.
 - **NOTE:** If you click **Finish** at this point, you can exit the Discovery wizard and then manually create rooms and move the discovered devices into those rooms at a later point by dragging and dropping in the tree. You will also then have to pair the devices after moving them. However, keep in mind that if you have more than one LMBR, you will have to restart the Discovery wizard in order to configure any additional LMBRs that were not previously commissioned.

Room Assignment

gn wireless device	es to a room			Copy Log	Next Finish
Now Puilding	Add Area	Add Room			
			Type		il 💿
103			🔲 🖾 LMBC-650	43D2	al 💿
			🔲 💿 LMPC-600	4110	.il 💿
			🔲 🔲 LMDM-601	A110	l 💿
			E LMRC-611MCC	4967	al 💿
			E LMRC-611MCC	9DFA	al 💿
			🔲 🔛 LMPX-600	5110	il 💿
			🔲 🔲 LMSW-605	7110	al 💿
			IMRC-611MCC		al 💿
ew devices found					

18. Highlight the building name to enable the Add Area and Add Room buttons, then click Add Room. A dialog pops up. Enter the room name and click OK. Repeat, adding as many rooms as desired. You can also click Add Area to name and add areas. You can then drag and drop the rooms into the areas, exactly the same as when creating areas and rooms in the Devices tree.

- 19. Once the rooms are created, click on a room to select specific devices to add to that room. As you add devices to a room and the click on another room, those devices are removed from the list since they are no longer unassigned.
 - **NOTE:** A room cannot contain both a wireless room controller and an LMBC-650 wireless bridge. (You can, however have multiple room controllers in a room.) If you select a room controller for a room and then select an LMBC-650 while on that same room, the room controller will be deselected, and vice versa. Wireless switches and sensors **are** available to assign to a room with an LMBC-650, because wireless switches and sensors can be used to control a wired room controller.
 - **NOTE:** It is not necessary to assign all devices to rooms at this point, if you are not certain where you want devices assigned. Once the wizard is completed, you can move devices into rooms within the Device tree and then pair them when viewing the room from the tree. For details, see <u>"Adding Unassigned Devices to a Room and Pairing Them" on page 14</u>.

Room Assignment Assign wireless devices to a room		Copy Log	Next Fi	nish
→ New Building	Search			
101 102	Туре	Serial	at	۲
102	区 區 LMBC-650	43D2	al.	۲
	🗹 🕲 LMPC-600	4110	at	۲
	LMDM-601	A110	at	۲
	M 🛱 LMRC-611MCC	4967	at	۲
	M 🛱 LMRC-611MCC	9DFA	att	۲
	LMPX-600	5110	at	۲
	MSW-605	7110	al	۲
	LMRC-611MCC	9830	atl	۲
0 new devices found.				
Stopping device discovery process. Waiting for device assignments to complete.				0

20. Once all devices have been assigned, click Next. LMCS displays a summary of the devices that will be paired. Click Apply.

Assignment	9 processes selected				Other	8 processes selected			
\checkmark	Display ID	Туре	Ti	Status		Display ID	Туре	Ti	Status
\checkmark	LMSW-605 [A110]	Sync with Room [0.00	Pending	\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [49	Read Data Diction	0.00	Pending
\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [4967]	Sync with Room [0.00	Pending		LMRC-611MCC [A4	Read Data Diction	0.00	Pending
\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [A4	Sync with Room [0.00	Pending		LMRC-611MCC [98	Read Data Diction	0.00	Pending
\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [9830]	Sync with Room [0.00	Pending		LMRC-611MCC [9D	Read Data Diction	0.00	Pending
\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [9D	Sync with Room [0.00	Pending		LMRC-611MCC [49	Pair with Room O	0.00	Pending
\checkmark	LMPC-600 [4110]	Sync with Room [0.00	Pending		LMRC-611MCC [A4	Pair with Room O	0.00	Pending
\checkmark	LMPX-600 [5110]	Sync with Room [0.00	Pending		LMRC-611MCC [98	Pair with Room O	0.00	Pending
\checkmark	LMDM-601 [A110]	Sync with Room [0.00	Pending		LMRC-611MCC [9D	Pair with Room O	0.00	Pending
\checkmark	LMSW-605 [7110]	Sync with Room [0.00	Pending					
] auto-retry	8				auto-ret	гу			
			App	ly I	Back	Cancel			

21. The status bar at the bottom shows the pairing process. Once the process completes, click Next or Finish.

IMPORTANT: If there is more than one LMBR and you still need to assign, click Next. Do not click Finish until all LMBRs and devices have been configured and assigned. Clicking Finish ends the configuration wizard.

plying change	2S					Сору	Log Next		Finish
Assignment	0 processes selected				Other	8 processes selected			<
\checkmark	Display ID	Туре	Ti	Status	\checkmark	Display ID	Туре	Ti	Status
	LMSW-605 [A110]	Sync with Room [1.86	Completed	\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [49	Read Data Diction	0.84	Complete
	LMRC-611MCC [4967]	Sync with Room [0.17	Completed	\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [A4	Read Data Diction	0.84	Complete
	LMRC-611MCC [A4	Sync with Room [0.17	Completed	\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [98	Read Data Diction	0.84	Complete
	LMRC-611MCC [9830]	Sync with Room [0.17	Completed	\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [9D	Read Data Diction	0.84	Complete
	LMRC-611MCC [9D	Sync with Room [0.17	Completed	\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [49	Pair with Room O	6	Complete
	LMPC-600 [4110]	Sync with Room [0.17	Completed	\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [A4	Pair with Room O	0.98	Complete
	LMPX-600 [5110]	Sync with Room [0.17	Completed	\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [98	Pair with Room O	0.98	Complete
	LMDM-601 [A110]	Sync with Room [0.18	Completed	\checkmark	LMRC-611MCC [9D	Pair with Room O	0.98	Complete
	LMSW-605 [7110]	Sync with Room [0.17	Completed					
auto-retry					auto-retr	гу			
			Арр	ly В	ack	Cancel			
] auto-retry			Арр	ly В	auto-retr	Cancel			

- 22. If you clicked Next in the previous step, you return to the LMBR Selection dialog (step 7), where you can repeat the process for additional LMBRs—selecting a specific LMBR and then selecting the specific devices you want to assign to that LMBR. The devices you assigned to previous LMBRs will not show up in the list of devices on the Uncommissioned Device Discovery and Network Assignment dialog, because they have already been moved off of the default Network ID Channel.
 - **NOTE:** You may need to wake up any unconfigured battery devices again, if too much time passed from the last time you woke them up.
- 23. If you selected the Discover commissioned devices checkbox on the LMBR Selection dialog (step 14), the Discovering Commissioned Devices dialog opens (skipping steps 15-22). This displays all devices that were previously commissioned (set to the Network ID and Channel of the network you just selected).

Wireless Device Discovery and Commissioning						
Discovering Commissioned Devices Searching for devices Click next once all expected device Select Network:	es have been	found.		Copy Log Copy Table	Next	Cancel Device count: 0
Vew Project	Search					
✓ I LMBR-650 ✓ I LMBR-650 ✓ Wireless Network [0004741610bd ✓ I LMBR-650 ✓ Wireless Network [0004741636e3	Туре	Serial	Version	Hops	all	T
0 new devices found. Scanning for new devices						*
Reading routes tables 0 new devices found.						0

If there are devices in the list that are not part of the current LMCS project file, they will be added, When you click **Next**, you will go directly to the **Room Assignment** dialog, where you can pair these additional devices to a room. At that point, you can click **Next** or **Finish**. If you still need to Discover uncomissioned devices, or if you still need to run dsicovery for other networks, click **Next** to go to the **Uncommissioned Device Discovery and Network Assignment** dialog (step 15). If there is nothing else to discover, click **Finish**.

24. Once all LMBRs have been configured and you click **Finish**, the final step in the Discovery process occurs. You return to the **Discover Networks** dialog. Click **Close.** The **Read Devices** dialog opens. LMCS reads various information from the LMBR. For a new site, this information will always be empty—this only applies in the case of an existing site in which discovery is being run again to capture new devices. Click **Close** to finish Discovery.

Read Devices

ead Devices			
Copy Log	✓ auto-retry	Stop	Close
Transfer Com	plete: 1 process su	cceeded, 0	processes failed.
•			

25. Wattstopper recommends at this point that you read information from all devices in the project. This will read in the default wireless scenes that are created automatically when devices are paired, along with any other current values for device parameters. Click **Read** in the **Commission** section of the top ribbon. The **Read Options** dialog opens. Leave all checkboxes selected.

Read Options	
Read Options	x
Read From 7110:	
Scenes	
Schedules	
V Holidays	
🗹 Retransmission List	
7110 Configuration	
Auto Start Processes	
OK Cancel	

26. Click **OK**. The **Read Devices** dialog displays the progress of the read and a log provides information. When the read is complete click **Close**.

Copy Log	Stop Close	
Reading LMRC-611MCC	C A4A9	
Creating 19 New Action	ns for A4A9	
Successfully read from	device LMRC-611MCC <a4a9></a4a9>	
Reading leaf device sta	atus for 7110	
Reading leaf device sta	atus for A110	
Read 1 devices in room	n <201>	
Reading 5 devices in ro	oom <202>	
Reading LMRC-112-M 5	524288735	
Successfully read from	device LMRC-112-M <524288735>	
Reading leaf device sta	atus for F110	1
Reading leaf device sta	atus for 6110	
Reading LMSW-105-CC	CT 67108869	
Successfully read from	device LMSW-105-CCT <67108869>	U
		*

27. If you expand the Devices Tree now, you will see the rooms you created and the devices assigned to those rooms. If any devices were not assigned to a room during discover, it will be included in a special "room" labeled Unassigned. You can also see a list of these devices if you click the **Unassigned** tab at the bottom of the tree.

Read Devices

Devices	~
👻 📐 New Building	
- 101	
▶	
LMPC-600	
LMSW-605	
- 102	
▶	
IMPC-600	
LMSW-605	
- II 103	
► 🛱 LMRC-611MCC	
LMPX-600	
LMDM-601	
 Unassigned Devices 	
► 🛱 LMRC-611MCC	
LMPX-600	
LMDM-601	

ADDING UNASSIGNED DEVICES TO A ROOM AND PAIRING THEM

If you did not assign all devices to a room during the discovery wizard, or if you have added additional devices and discovered them after having assigned other devices, you can easily add them to a room and pair them.

- 1. Highlight the desired devices within the Unassigned Devices "room" and drag them into the desired room. This can be an existing room or a room you just created in the tree.
- 2. Highlight the room you just dragged the devices into and click the Wireless Device Pairing button in the top section. A dialog opens and LMCS checks the status of the devices. While checking the status, the Status column will display "Unknown" in yellow. Once the check is complete, the status changes to green for paired devices, the controller status will display "Ready" and the battery devices will show that they are paired.

	Pair Wireless Device	s
Pair Wireless Device	5	
Туре	Serial	Status
LMRC-611MCC	9830	Ready
LMPX-600	5110	Paired 1 / 1
LMSW-605	7110	Paired 1 / 1
04:07:25 - Reading (device pair tables [9830]	
04:07:25 - [9830]: P	aired with [9830,5110,7110]	
04:07:25 - Status re	freshment completed	
Re-pair Devices	Soft Re-pair Discover Devices R	efresh Cancel Finish

- If any devices are not paired and the status displays as yellow or red, click **Re-pair**. The status of the controllers will turn yellow, then red, as they are unpaired, and then pairing process starts. Once all devices are green, pairing is complete.
 Clicking the **Discover Devices** button will allow you to discover devices that were previously paired using the manual Push-to-Pair method or the DLM Config App, so you can re-pair them.
- **NOTE:** It is also possible to move previously paired devices from one room to another, by using the same process of dragging them to the new room and then clicking **Wireless Device Pairing**.

DISCOVERING WIRED DEVICES CONNECTED TO AN LMBC-650

If you have one or more LMBC-650 bridges in your network, the wired devices connected to those bridges are not discovered during the wireless discovery process. There are two possible methods for discovering the wired devices.

- · Discover all wired devices connected to all LMBC-650s within a single area or within the entire building, in one process
- Discover the wired devices connected to a single LMBC-650

To discover all the wired devices, highlight the building or an area in the Devices tree, then click **Discover Hybrid Rooms** in the information section. A dialog opens and discover begins immediately.

Discover Wired Devices

Fransfer		
Copy Log	Start	
Discovering Wired Devices Reading 1 devices in room Read 0 devices in room <2 Transfer Complete Successfully read 1 of 1 ro Finished LMBC-650 discove Discovering Wired Devices Reading 1 devices in room Read 0 devices in room <1 Transfer Complete Successfully read 2 of 2 room	s on Bridge 2A0D 1 <202> 202> 202> 203> ery s on Bridge 43D2 1 <103> 103> booms	
Finished LMDC-650 discove	er y	

Once the "Finished LMBC-650 discovery" message displays, click **Close**. The wired devices will now show up under the LMBC-650 in the tree and can be edited like any other wired DLM devices.

To discover wired devices that are connected to a single LMBC-650, select the LMBC-650 in the Devices tree and click **Discover** in the information section.

E	Wireless Netwo	rk Bridge with BLE			Add Devices			
BC	Device Type:	LMBC-650 T	Description:	Read Status	Controller 💌	Occ. Sensor 💌	Switch	•
	Serial Number:	43D2	Location:	Send Ping	Daylighting -	Interface 💌		
				Discover				

NOTE: It is also possible to manually add devices under the LMBC-650 by selecting them from the **Add Devices** section of the LMBC-650 information area. In this case, you will need to enter serial numbers and device IDs and synchronize the devices, the same as you would for wired devices in a project that was created off-line. See the LMCS-100 Operation Manual for details.

VIEWING LMBR-650 AND WIRELESS NETWORK INFORMATION

If you select the **Networks** tab, each LMBR-650 that has been discovered will display in the Networks tree.

• Networks «					
Search	Description:	Update Firmware	Soft Reboot	Add to Existing Network	Enable Device Harvesting
Davids Office	IP Address: 192.168.1.113	Factory Reset	Restart	Run Backup	
Unassigned Devices	Configure	Retrieve Logs	Replace Router	Status	
		Last known firmware versio	n: 10.105		
▶ LMBR-650					

You can enter a **Description** and it will display in the tree. The **IP Address** can be edited, but if you do so, it would need to be changed on the LMBR, so it is recommended you do not change it here.

If you click **Update Firmware**, a dialog opens displaying the version of firmware that was included when the current version of LMCS was installed. It will also check and display the version in the LMBR itself, allowing you to update if a newer version has become available. YOu can then **Copy to**

IMPORTANT: If you click **Factory Reset**, the LMBR will be reset back to default values. Not only will the Network ID and Channel be set to defaults, but the security certificate will also be deleted. You must then create a **new** Site and rediscover the LMBR—you will **not** be able to use your existing site. Therefore, use caution with this function.

The **Retrieve Logs** button will display the most recent logs from the border router. It shows profile assignments, tag attributes, multi-LMBR data, the route table, routes, the most recent 20 events from event.log, the last 200 lines of callLog.txt, and the last 50 lines from lighttpd_error.log. You can then copy thi information to the clipboard or save it as a text file.

The **Soft Reboot** button will reboot Contiki on the border router. It is most useful if the LMBR stops communicating with devices but is otherwise responsive.

The Restart button will restart the LMBR-650. It is essentially the same as power cucling the LMBR-650.

The **Run Backup** button is only displayed for the primary (master) border router in a multi-LMBR setup (or in a single LMBR setup). On a weekly basis, every Sunday at 3AM, the border routers will run a backup of each other in order to make replacement possible. However, you can use this function to manually initiate the backup for all routers. LMCS only reports that the backup command was successfully sent. It does not wait for the backup to successfully complete.

NOTE: Wattstopper **strongly** recommends that an initial backup is run after the site has been commissioned and before the startup technician leaves.

LMBR-650 Information

The Add Existing Network button has two separate functions:

- It is used if you have a wireless room that was originally paired using the manual Push-to-Pair method or the Quick Pair method in the DLM Config App. For details, see <u>"Adding Devices Previously Paired with Push-to-Pair or the DLM Config App" on page 18</u>.
- It can also be used if you need to replace the router for a site that has only a single LMBR-650, for situations in which the original router has developed a problem or was reset. By using this function, you won't need to reset the other devices and re-run discovery. Note that the new LMBR-650 cannot already have any devices attached to it before you run this function. For details, see <u>"Replacing the LMBR-650 in a Single LMBR Network" on page 26</u>.

The **Replace Router** button is used if you need to replace a router in a site with **multiple** LMBR-650s. There must be at least one functioning router on the site that contains the backup files for the other routers. For details, see <u>"If Replacing or Resetting an LMBR-650" on page 25</u>.

If you click the **Configure** button, a dialog open that allows you change the IP address and other connection parameters, for Static IP configuration.

At default, the LMBR-650 is configured for DHCP and requires DNS to provide it with a IP address before you can even connect to it. Therefore, all LMBR-650s (as well as the computer) must be connected to a router when you initially discover it within LMCS. If you do not plan to have the router permanently connected to the network, you must switch the LMBR-650 to a static IP address, once it has been discovered. If there are multiple LMBR-650s, set each one to a different IP address and they will all be able to communicate both with LMCS and with each other.

LMBR IP Con	figuration
-------------	------------

Obtain an IP A	Address automatically
O Use the follow	ving IP Address:
IP address:	
Subnet mask:	
Default gateway:	:
DNS server:	

You can obtain the IP address automatically, or select "Use the Following IP Address" to manually enter all of the details.

NOTE: You will need to rediscover the LMBR after changing the values.

If you expand the tree to show a wireless network and highlight it, the Info section displays information about the network and provides a few useful tools.

Wireless Network Information



You can enter a **Description** for the network and it will display in the tree. The **Network ID** and **Channel** used for wireless communication are set during the wireless configuration wizard and cannot be changed here.

It is possible to manually add wireless devices to a network with the **Add Bridge** and **Add Device** buttons. However, at this time, there is no practical use for this function because wireless devices must be added through discovery in order to work properly.

Changing the Primary LMBR-650 in a Multi-LMBR Project

In a project with multiple LMBRs, one LMBR will be designated as the primary LMBR. If viewing the network of the primary LMBR, the **Is Primary** checkbox will be selected and disabled. To choose a different LMBR to be the primary, highlight the Network of that LMBR. In this case, the **Is Primary** checkbox will be enabled. Simply click the checkbox to make the change.

NOTE: The primary LMBR is used to store wireless schedules, so if you change the primary from one LMBR to another, you must resend the schedules from LMCS to the new primary LMBR. See the LMCS-100 Operation Manual for details.

BACnet Information Section

By default, BACnet is disabled, on the LMBR, but if you click **Enabled**, you can enable BACnet and edit the values of the parameters.

NOTE: When you click Enable, a security disclaimer pops up, which you must agree to before proceeding.

NOTE: When setting up the BACnet settings on the LMBR, the IPv4 value and IPv6 value should not be the same. If they are the same, the LMBR-650 will not be able to properly access the points from an LMBC-650 for the BACnet export tables.

IPv4 Network Number – BACnet number for IPv4 communication. The default value is 0 but can be changed. However, all LMBRs and all profiles in the installation must use the same number if there is a single network controller or the network controller is not used. If there is more than one network controller, each one will have its own BACnet number. All profiles assigned to routers and bridges must use the same number that has been configured on the network controller.

IPv6 Network Number - BACnet number for IPv6 communication. Each LMBR must use a unique number.

Port – This number must match the number you set in the **Preferences** dialog, accessed from the **Support** tab The default number is 47808.

Instance Number – This number must be unique for each individual device in a BACnet network.

NOTE: You must click Send after enabling BACnet and setting the parameters in order for BACnet to be enabled on the LMBR.

Using the Diagnostics Section to Check and View Network Information.

The bottom section of the window provides the ability to check network information for one or more devices in the network.

- 1. Choose a network test to run. These include:
 - · Connection Strength Returns the RSSI value and shows signal strength in number of bars.
 - Ping Returns the serial number of the device and shows the response time in milliseconds.
 - Hops Returns the serial number of the device, the network ID, and the number of devices the signal passes through to reach the target device.
 - **Battery Level** Returns the serial number, device type and battery level. Room controllers and bridges will display a value of 0% since they have no battery.
 - Last Known Battery Level Battery levels of the devices are stored in the room controller, and this diagnostic will show the battery level that is stored in the room controller. Therefore, to run this test, select the room controller and not the battery devices. Returns the serial number, device type and battery level.
- 2. Expand the **Area/Rooms** tree and Select one or more areas or rooms. Then expand the **Devices** tree and select either a device type or individual devices within the device type.
- 3. Click Select Devices. Messages are sent to the devices and the information is displayed once received.
- 4. Click **Save** if you want to save the results to a text file, for diagnostic purposes.

NOTE: Battery Devices must be woken up before they will respond to these tests.

DISCOVERING NEW ROOMS OR DEVICES IN A PREVIOUSLY DISCOVERED NETWORK

Another application in which online discovery might be used is in a situation where a large project was previously created, but a room has been added at a later point, or extra devices added to an existing room, or a malfunctioning device is replaced with a different device.

- **NOTE:** For wireless networks, if you are adding devices that were previously paired using the manual Push-to-Pair method or with the DLM Configuration App, you must use a special process to add them to the network. See the following section for details.
- **NOTE:** If replacing an LMBR-650 as opposed to replacing a malfunctioning room controller, sensor or switch, the process is different. See <u>"If Replacing or Resetting an LMBR-650" on page 25</u>.

For Wireless Networks

For a wireless network, you must run the Wireless Discovery process again to discover the new or replaced devices, but a few steps are left out.

When discovering an already configured wireless network, you skip the step where you select the Network, ID and Channel, since they were previously chosen. Once you get to the step where you can view uncommissioned devices, any new devices which are set to the default network ID and channel will be listed. Select the desired devices to move them to the network. You then proceed assigning the new devices to rooms, where you can assign them to an existing room or create a new room for the devices. Once discovery is complete, delete any replaced devices from the devices tree.

NOTE: You can also use the process above to re-connect existing devices to the network if they had to be reset (which results in the network ID and channel being set back to defaults). Once the devices have been reassigned to the network, there is no need to do any room assignment since they already exist in the room in the project file. If the device you reset is one of the switches or sensors, there is no need to

re-pair the device in the room, because the pairing information is stored in the room controller. But if the room controller was reset, then you will need to re-pair all devices in the room.

ADDING DEVICES PREVIOUSLY PAIRED WITH PUSH-TO-PAIR OR THE DLM CONFIG APP

This section covers a situation in which a room was previously paired using Push-to-Pair or the DLM Config App and you now want to add those devices to your LMCS project by connecting an LMBR to those devices.

- **NOTE:** If you used the DLM Config App to pair devices in a room, this process will **only** work if you used the **Quick Pair** function, which creates an unsecured network. If you created a secured site with the DLM Config App, this process will not work. To bring the devices from that site into LMCS, you will have to reset all those devices and then use the regular discovery process to add them into the LMCS project.
- **NOTE:** In order to perform this process you will need physical access to one of the devices in the room in order to manually put all the devices in the room into Push-to-Pair mode, or you can use the DLM Config App to do the same.

You must have an additional, temporary LMBR-650 to complete this process. The temporary LMBR, which you will use to connect to the previously paired network, must **not** have any devices currently assigned to it. After bringing in the new devices into LMCS, you will move them from the temporary LMBR to one of the permanent LMBRs in the site.

Since each room created using PtP or the DLM Config App is a separate network, if there are multiple rooms that you want to add to LMCS, you must repeat this process for each room.

For the temporary LMBR, you must first Discover that LMBR and add it to the LMCS project so that it will appear in the Networks view in the tree. See steps 1-4 in the section <u>"Network/Device Discovery and Device Pairing Wizard" on page 4</u>. Once the LMBR has been added, click **Close** to end the Discover wizard. You can then proceed with the following steps.

IMPORTANT: When configuring the LMBR during Discovery, you **must** use the **Default** settings (do **not** select Configure to enter custom values for the Network ID and Channel on the **LMBR Network Configuration** dialog).

Bringing Previously Paired Devices into LMCS

There are two different situations that apply when adding an existing network:

- You want to retain the load binding programming in the room originally created using Push n' Learn or Quick Pair in the DLM Config App.
- You do not need to retain the original load binding and instead will do this in LMCS.

The first set of steps are identical in both situations. Following those steps, the additional steps are separated for each of the two options.

1. In the Network View of the tree, select the LMBR to be used for adding the existing network. As mentioned above, this LMBR must **not** have any devices currently assigned to it. Then click **Add Existing Network**.

∾o Networks ≪	Descriptio	op:	Update Firmware	Soft Reboot	Run Backup
Search					
Ver New Project	IP Addre	ss: 192.168.1.213	Factory Reset	Restart	Add Existing Network
		Configure	Retrieve Logs	Replace Router	

2. A wizard opens that walks through the steps necessary to connect the LMBR to the existing network. Click Next.

1BR Network Change
Add LMBR to Existing Network
Add LMBR to an existing network
This is a step by step process on how to pair an LMBR 650 with an existing network. This is done by putting a Room Controller or Bridge into "push to pair" mode which then allows the LMBR to obtain the network information from the room controller or bridge. Click "Next" to proceed with the pairing process.
Next > Cancel

3. A prompt informs you that LMCS will put the LMBR on to the default network. Click Set to Default.

LMBR Network Change	
Add LMBR to Existing Network	
Set LMBR to default	
In order to proceed we must first set	LMBR 552A into default
	Next > Cancel

- 4. The wizard display the status as it attempts to set the LMBR to default. When complete, click Next.
- 5. At this point a prompt appears informing you that you must put the room controller into Push-to-Pair mode, by pressing the Config button on **any** device in the room three times (within three seconds). The LED on the room controller and all other paired devices in the room that are awake will flash green. Then click **Pair LMBR**.



- 6. LMCS will then attempt to obtain the network key from the room controller and a message displays showing the status. When complete, click **Next**.
- The prompt now informs you that the devices will need to be discovered. Before that can occur, the devices must exit Push-to-Pair mode. From any device, press the Config button 3 times. Once the devices exit Push-to-Pair, click **Discover**.

LMBR Network Change
Add LMBR to Existing Network
LMBR Successfully added to network
In order to bring the devices of this network into LMCS you need to do a commissioned discovery (all devices need to exit "push to pair" mode in order to be discoverable with a commissioned discovery). If you do not wish to do a commissioned discovery just click "Finish".
Finish Cancel

8. The LMBR Selection dialog opens. Make sure the Discover commissioned devices checkbox is selected, then click Next.

Wireless Device Discovery and Commissioning	
LMBR Selection	
	Copy Log Next Cancel
	☑ Discover commissioned devices
	OR
Select an L	MBR to use to search for uncommissioned devices:
Select Netv	vork:
- ↓ Ne - ↓ - ↓ - ↓	w Project Default Building IMBR-650 UMBR-650 Wireless Network [0004741627f1 - 5] IMBR-650 Wireless Network [000474163a09 - 6] IMBR-650 Wireless Network [00047416552a - 439
Checking LMBR-650 [00047416552a] network settings. Checking LMBR-650 [0004741627f1] network settings. Checking LMBR-650 [000474163a09] network settings.	

9. The **Discovering Commissioned Devices** dialog opens. The window will populate with all devices in the room. If any switch or sensor devices are not awake, you must wake them by pressing the Config button before they will appear in the list. Once all devices have been found, click **Next**.

earching for devices Click next once all expected devi elect Network:	ces have been found.		Copy Log Copy Table	Ne	Devices De	Cancel
 New Project Default Building IMBR-650 Wireless Network [0004741627f1 IMBR-650 Wireless Network [000474163a09 Wireless Network [00047416552a. 	Search					
	Туре	Serial	Version	Hops	at	۲
	LMRC-611MCC	ABB9	10.25.27	1	at	۲
	@ LMDL-600	3485	10.25.27	1	att	۲
	LMPX-600	4D4C	10.25.27	1	att	۲
	LMSW-605	0E50	10.25.27	1	ath	۲
WIFeless Network [00047416552a	LMDM-601	069E	10.25.27	1	at	۲
	. IMPC-600	077C	10.25.27	1	att	۲
Received device [ABB9] signal strength of -27 dB.						

Once you click **Next**, the **Room Assignment** dialog appears. At this point, the process varies, depending on whether you want to retain the load binding programming currently in the room or will do this in LMCS. The following two sections detail the steps for each option. If you are going to create load binding using LMCS, see <u>page 22</u>.

If Retaining the Load Binding from PnL or the DLM Config App

1. From the Room Assignment dialog, click Finish.

ssign wireless devices to	o a room			Copy Log	Next Fin	nish
	Add Area	Add Room				
New Building 1st floor						
			Type	4D4C		(
			LMSW-605			0
			LMDM-601			
				ABB9		0
			🔲 🖗 LMDL-600	3485		0
			E 🗍 🕲 LMPC-600			
ddina discovered devic	es to the current	project.				
hecking LMBR-650 [00	0474163a09] netv	work settings.				

- 2. The dialog will close and all of the devices will be assigned to the Unassigned Devices category in the Devices View in the tree. The new devices also appear under the temporary LMBR in the Networks View.
- 3. You now need to move the devices to a different LMBR before you can discover and bring in the next network (room). Highlight each of the devices to be moved, then click and drag them on to the LMBR network that you would like to move them to. When prompted, select Yes.

NOTE: If you receive a warning that LMCS is unable to move a device, select No. Wake up the device and try moving it again.



4. Go to the Devices view. Add a new room in the tree (if needed, add an area and a room within that area). Then select all the devices under Unassigned devices and drag them into the new room.

Devices 🗧		Wir
Search		Dev
👻 🍉 New Building		Ser
- 🚽 1st floor		
Alin Lobby		hced
👻 🔟 Unassigned Devices		
IMRC-611MCC [ABB9]	Volts:	120
(MDL-600 [3485]	Amps:	0.0
IMPC-600 [077C]		
LMPX-600 [4D4C]	Watts:	0
LMDM-601 [069E]		
LMSW-605 [0E50]		

5. Highlight the new room in the tree and click **Read All Devices**. A pop-up dialog shows the status of reading in the parameters from the devices. When complete, all of the binding will now be loaded into LMCS.

Devices «	Name: Main Lobby	Add Devices		Read All Devices
Search	Room type: Apply	Controller 🔻	1: Scene 01 🔺	Send All Devices
Vew Building		Occ. Sensor 🔻	2: Scene 02 3: Scene 03	Sync Devices
→ Ist noor → Main Lobby		Switch 👻	4: Scene 04 5: Scene 05	Log Messages
► LMRC-611MCC [ABB9]	Taos: Help	Daylighting 👻	6: Scene 06	
@ LMPC-600 [3485]		Interface 🔻	Edit Activate	Wireless Device Pairing
LMPX-600 [4D4C]	Basic Advanced Diagnostics			
► [] LMSW-605 [0E50]	Total Watts: 0			
Unassigned Devices	After Hours Enabled			

- 6. Repeat the entire process for each additional room that needs to be added, going back to the first LMBR and clicking **Add Existing Network**.
- **NOTE:** For the temporary LMBR, you should perform a reset on it before disconnecting it so that it is uncommissioned and available for another use in the future.

If Creating Load Binding in LMCS

1. Continuing from step 9 in the first part of this process, once the **Room Assignment** dialog opens, click **Add Room**. Then enter the name for the room you want to place the new devices into and click **OK**. If needed you can create more than one room if you want to split the devices between rooms.

and the second				- 1
ssign wireless devices to a room		Copy Log	Next Fin	ish
Add A	rea Add Room			
New Building				
→ 1st floor	Туре			۲
	LMRC-611MCC	ABB9		۲
	🔲 🖗 LMDL-600			۲
	🔲 🛄 LMPX-600	4D4C		۲
	Add Room	x		۲
	Enter name for new room:			۲
	Main Lobby	P		۲
	ОК	Cancel		
	rrent project			

 Highlight the room then select the devices to be moved to that room. If you created more than one room and selected only some of the devices, when you select the next room only the unselected devices will be available to move into the second room. Once all devices have been selected. click Next.

Wireless Device Discovery and Commissioning				
Room Assignment Assign wireless devices to a room Add Area Add Room		Copy Log	Next Fin	ish
- New Building	Search			
+ 1st floor	Туре	Serial	at	۲
	M C LMRC-611MCC	ABB9	at	۲
	☑ 🖗 LMDL-600	3485	att	۲
	MPX-600	4D4C	att	۲
	MSW-605	0E50	att	۲
	MDM-601	069E	att	۲
	🛛 🕼 LMPC-600	077C	att	۲
Adding discovered devices to the current project. Checking LMBR-650 [00047416552a] network settings.				^
Checking LMBR-650 [0004741627f1] network settings.				0
Checking LMBR-650 [000474163a09] network settings.				*

3. Click **Apply**. LMCS will move the devices into the room. The status bar at the bottom shows the progress of the move. Once the process is complete and all devices have been moved, the **Next** and **Finish** buttons are enabled. Click **Finish**.

Wireless Device Discovery and Commissioning						
Room Assignment						
The following changes are about to be made:			Сору	Log	Next	Finish
Moving LMDM-601 [069E] from [Unassigned Devices] to [Mai Moving LMDL-600 [3485] from [Unassigned Devices] to [Mair Moving LMSW-605 [0E50] from [Unassigned Devices] to [Mai Moving LMPC-600 [077C] from [Unassigned Devices] to [Mair Moving LMRC-611MCC [ABB9] from [Unassigned Devices] to Moving LMPX-600 [4D4C] from [Unassigned Devices] to [Mair	n Lobby]. n Lobby]. in Lobby]. n Lobby]. [Main Lobby]. n Lobby].					
	Back	Apply				
Adding discovered devices to the current project.						*
Checking LMBR-650 [000474162761] network settings. Checking LMBR-650 [000474162761] network settings. Checking LMBR-650 [000474163a09] network settings.						Ū,

4. The new devices will now appear under the network of the temporary LMBR you used to add the existing network in the **Networks** view. They will also appear under the newly created room in the **Devices** view.



- 5. Now that the room has been added to LMCS, you will need to move the devices to a different LMBR before you can discover and bring in the next network (room). Highlight each of the devices to be moved, then click and drag them on to the LMBR network that you would like to move them to. When prompted, select Yes.
 - **NOTE:** If you receive a warning concerning LMCS being unable to move a device, select **No**. Wake up the device and try moving it again.



- 6. Repeat the entire process for each additional room that needs to be added, going back to the first LMBR and clicking Add Existing Network.
- **NOTE:** For the temporary LMBR, you should perform a reset on it before disconnecting it so that it is uncommissioned and available for another use in the future.

IF REPLACING OR RESETTING AN LMBR-650

If you need to replace a commissioned LMBR-650 for any reason (or if that LMBR was reset), highlight that specific LMBR in the tree, then click **Replace Router** if it is a multi-LMBR site or **Add Existing Network** if it is a single LMBR site. For a multi-LMBR site, you can replace either the primary or any secondary LMBR.

NOTE: Keep in mind that if the old or reset LMBR was set to a static IP address, you will need to add a router back into the network in order to communicate with the new or reset LMBR, since it will be set to DHCP. Be sure to set the LMBR-650 to static IP before completing the process. It is not necessary to use the same static IP address as was used previously.

Replacing an LMBR-650 in a Multi-LMBR Network

NOTE: All LMBRs in a multi-LMBR network automatically create a backup of the data in the other LMBRs every Sunday at 3 AM. So if you replace an LMBR, it will be loaded with the data from that previous backup. If any changes were made to that particular LMBR since the backup, the settings will need to be reprogrammed. This applies to things such as wireless schedules and scenes which are stored in the LMBR-650. You can manually run an LMBR network backup by selecting the Primary LMBR in the tree and then clicking **Run Backup**. This process takes about a minute to complete. Wattstopper recommends that you run a backup after the replacement process is complete.

NOTE:

- 1. If an LMBR-650 needs to be replaced, disconnect it from the network and then connect an **uncommissioned** LMBR to the network. If an LMBR has been reset, it is now uncommissioned.
- 2. Select the **Networks** tab in the tree and highlight the LMBR that has been removed or reset (identified by its MAC address.

∞° Networks	«	Description	[Lindate Firmware	Soft Peboot	Add Existing Network
Search		Description.		opuacerimmare	Sorriceboor	
👻 📲 New Project		IP Address:	192.168.1.8	Factory Reset	Restart	
			Configure	Retrieve Logs	Replace Router	

3. Click **Replace Router**. A dialog pops up and displays any uncommissioned LMBRs found on the network.

Select LMBR to replace 000474163A0	9
02033-192.168.1.137 [00047416	27f1] LMBR-650 [Single - Uncommissioned]
Replace	

4. Select the LMBR if it is not automatically selected, and click **Replace**. A confirmation dialog pops up, identifying the two LMBRs by MAC address. Click **Yes**.

02033-192.168.1	. 137 (0004741627f1) LMBR-650 (Single - l	Jncommissioned]					
Router	Router Replacement						
	By continuing 0004741627F1 will be rep Proceed?	placing 000474163A09.					

5. The dialog changes to show the status of the replacement process. Initially it will says "Securing LMBR xxx" and eventually says "Success" upon completion. When finished, click **Close**.

Select LMBR to replace 000474163A09 O2033-192.168.1.137 [0004741627f1] LMBR-650 [Single - Uncommissioned] Baplace	ecuring LMBR 0004741627F1 to the site	
02033-192. 168. 1. 137 [0004741627f1] LMBR-650 [Single - Uncommissioned]	Select LMBR to replace 000474163A09	
Panlace	02033-192, 168, 1, 137 [0004741627f1] LMBR-650 [Single - Uncon	imissioned]
Replace		

NOTE: If you are replacing the primary LMBR, the new LMBR will automatically become the primary.

NOTE: You can use this same process if an LMBR was reset but not replaced. The only difference is that the same MAC address will display for the original and "replacement" LMBR.

Replacing the LMBR-650 in a Single LMBR Network

There are two parts to this procedure. The first part is to discover the new LMBR-650 or the existing LMBR if it was reset. The second part is to use the Add Existing Network function to connect the existing devices with the new/reset LMBR.

1. Highlight the current LMBR in the **Networks** view, then right-click and select **Delete**. Then click **Yes** to confirm. **NOTE:** You must do this step even if you are going to rediscover an existing LMBR that was reset.

∞ Networks				**	Description		Lindata Eirmuara	Soft Doboot	Add Existing Natural
Search					Description:		Opuate Firmware	SOIL REDOOL	Add Existing Network
- New Project				•	IP Address:	192.168.1.213	Factory Reset	Restart	
👻 📑 Default Bui	ding			A		Configure	Retrieve Logs	Replace Router	
LMBR- Min	÷	Expand All	152- 41						
		Collapse All	552a - Hj						
	Ж	Cut							
	D	Сору							
	×	Delete							
	2	Refresh							
	-		-						

- 2. If replacing the LMBR, connect the uncommissioned LMBR to the network. (This can be done before step 1 if desired.)
- 3. Return to the **Devices** view and click **Discover**. LMCS will display the uncommissioned LMBR.

Networks	
✓ 01322-192.16	i8.1.213 [00047416552a] LMBR-650 [Single - Uncommiss
Select All	Select None

4. Click Add. A new dialog pops up that allows you to select the Network ID and Channel the LMBR will use to communicate with the wireless DLM devices. It will pick a couple of numbers automatically. The Name used to identify the LMBR will be set to the MAC address of the LMBR. If you want to change either or both of the numbers or create a custom name, click Configure and the fields will be enabled for editing. If you click Use Defaults, the fields are disabled and set to the values chosen by LMCS. You do not need to use the Network ID and Channel that was previously used.

Profile	Configure Use Defaults
Name	
00047416	5552a
Network I	D:
5	
Channel:	
Channel:	

5. Click Create. You return to the Discover Networks dialog. Click Close.

Discover Networks	
Networks Added: 1	
Networks	
01322-192.168.1.213 [00047416552a] LMBR-650 [Single - Ur	commissioned
Select All Select None	
Discover All Rooms Discover Bridges Only	
Discover	

6. Return to the Networks view. Select the LMBR and click Add Existing Network.

∞'o Networks ≪	Description		Undate Firmware	Soft Reboot	Add Existing Network
Search					
Vew Project	IP Address	192.168.1.8	Factory Reset	Restart	
Default Building MBP-650		Configure	Retrieve Logs	Replace Router	
Wireless Network [000474163a09 - 4]					

7. A wizard opens that walks through the steps necessary to reconnect the LMBR to your devices. Click Next.

LMBR N	letwork Change
A	Add LMBR to Existing Network
A	Add LMBR to an existing network
	This is a step by step process on how to pair an LMBR 650 with an existing network. This is done by putting a Room Controller or Bridge into "push to pair" mode which then allows the LMBR to obtain the network information from the room controller or bridge. Click "Next" to proceed with the pairing process.
	Next > Cancel

8. A prompt informs you that LMCS will put the LMBR on to the default network. Click Set to Default.



- 9. The wizard display the status at it attempts to set the LMBR to default. When complete, click Next.
- 10. At this point a prompt appears informing you that you must put the room controller into Push-to-Pair mode, by pressing the Config button on **any** device in the room three times (within three seconds). The LED on the room controller and all other paired devices in the room that are awake will flash green. Then click **Pair LMBR**.

LMBR Network Change
Add LMBR to Existing Network
Pair LMBR to existing site
A wireless controller or bridge needs to be put into "Push to Pair" mode (3 press the configuration button). Once the device has been put into "Push to Pair" click the "Pair LMBR" button.
Pair LMBR
Next > Cancel

- 11. LMCS will then attempt to obtain the network key from the room controller and a message displays showing the status. When complete, click **Next**.
- 12. The prompt now informs you that the devices will need to be discovered. Before that can occur, the devices must exit Push-to-Pair mode. From any device, press the Config button 3 times. Once the devices exit Push-to-Pair, click **Discover**.

LMBR Network Change	
Add LMBR to Existing Network	
LMBR Successfully added to network	
In order to bring the devices of this network is commissioned discovery (all devices need to order to be discoverable with a commissioned wish to do a commissioned discovery just clic	into LMCS you need to do a exit "push to pair" mode in I discovery). If you do not k "Finish".
	Finish Cancel

13. The LMBR Selection dialog opens. Make sure the Discover commissioned devices checkbox is selected, then click Next.

Wireless Device Discovery and Comm	issioning
LMBR Selection	
	Copy Log Next Cancel
	☑ Discover commissioned devices
	OR
	Select an LMBR to use to search for uncommissioned devices:
	Select Network:
	• Image: New Project • Image: Default Building • Image: LMBR-650 • Image: LMBR-650
Checking LMBR-650 [00047416552a] net	work settings. work settings.
Checking LMBR-650 [000474163a09] net	work settings.

14. The **Discovering Commissioned Devices** dialog opens. The window will populate with all devices in the room. If any switch or sensor devices are not awake, you must wake them by pressing the Config button before they will appear in the list. Once all devices have been found, click **Next**.

Select Network:	les have been found.		Сору Тав	le 🗸 Leaf	Devices Dev	vice count: (
- New Project	Search					
Default Building MBP-650	Туре	Serial	Version	Hops	at	۲
Wireless Network [0004741627f1 Wireless Network [0004741627f1 Wireless Network [000474163a09 Wireless Network [000474165525	LMRC-611MCC	ABB9	10.25.27	1	al	۲
	P LMDL-600	3485	10.25.27	1	at	۲
	LMPX-600	4D4C	10.25.27	1	at	۲
	LMSW-605	0E50	10.25.27	1	at	۲
Wireless Network [0004/416552a	LMDM-601	069E	10.25.27	1	at	۲
	IMPC-600	077C	10.25.27	1	att	۲

15. The Room Assignment dialog appears. Click Finish.

gn wireless devices to a room		Copy Log Next	t Fin	iish
Add Area Add R	oom			
New Building	Type			6
	LMPX-600	4D4C		0
	🔲 🔲 LMSW-605			0
	LMDM-601			(
	IMRC-611MCC	ABB9		1
	🔲 🖗 LMDL-600			0
	E 🗍 💿 LMPC-600	077C		1
ling discovered devices to the current project				

16. The dialog will close and all of the devices will be assigned to the Unassigned Devices category in the tree. Go to the Devices area. Then select all the devices under Unassigned devices drag them into the room that they were originally placed in.

Devices	« Mir
Search	
👻 🦕 New Building	Ser
- Ist floor	
Main Lobby	hced
→ □ Unassigned Devices	
LMRC-611MCC [ABB9]	Volts: 120
@ LMDL-600 [3485]	Amps: 0.0
(3) LMPC-600 [077C]	
LMPX-600 [4D4C]	Watts: 0
LMDM-601 [069E]	
LMSW-605 [0E50]	

17. The final step in this process is to reconnect wireless scenes and schedules to the LMBR and devices. For **each** room in the tree, highlight the room and click **Wireless Device Pairing**.

Devices «	Name: Main Lobby	Add Devices		Read All Devices
Search	Room type: Apply	Controller 👻	1: Scene 01 🔺	Send All Devices
Vew Building		Occ. Sensor 🔻	2: Scene 02 3: Scene 03	Sync Devices
The main Lobby		Switch 💌	4: Scene 04 5: Scene 05	Log Messages
► 🖵 LMRC-611MCC [ABB9]	Taos: Help	Daylighting 💌	6: Scene 06	
© LMDL-600 [3485] ⓓ LMPC-600 [077C]		Interface 💌	Edit Activate	Wireless Device Pairing
LMPX-600 [4D4C]	Basic Advanced Diagnostics			
LMSW-605 [0E50]	Total Watts: 0			
Unassigned Devices	After Hours Enabled			

18. The Pair Devices dialog opens. Click Discover Devices.

Device Pairing Status:	Reading Device LMRC-611MCC [ABB9]	l i
Туре	Serial	Status
LMRC-611MCC	ABB9	Ready
LMDL-600	3485	Paired 1 / 1
LMPC-600	077C	Paired 1 / 1
LMPX-600	4D4C	Paired 1 / 1
LMDM-601	069E	Paired 1 / 1
LMSW-605	0E50	Paired 1 / 1

- 19. LMCS reads in all the pairing and binding info. Once complete, click **Finish**. Then click **Send All Devices** to send the wireless scene information back to the devices. You must repeat the last three steps for each room in the project.
 - **NOTE:** Instead of clicking **Send All Devices** seperately for each room, you may instead highlighth the Building in the tree and click the same button from there to send to all devices in all rooms.

In order to enhance the security of our products, Legrand ships its products with all insecure ports closed and insecure protocols disabled. You are free to configure your device as needed, but in doing so note that you may be decreasing the security of your device and any information contained in the device. As you modify the device's default settings, keep in mind how this may impact the security of the device and your network. In addition, you should use caution in connecting your device to the Internet, especially if you have altered the default security settings. If you have any questions or concerns about how your modifications of the device may affect its security, please contact the Legrand customer service team at 1-800-879-8585 / https://www.legrand.us/support/wattstopper.aspx

WARRANTY INFORMATION

INFORMATIONS RELATIVES À LA GARANTIE

INFORMACIÓN DE LA GARANTÍA

Wattstopper warranties its products to be free of defects in materials and workmanship for a period of five (5) years. There are no obligations or liabilities on the part of Wattstopper for consequential damages arising out of, or in connection with, the use or performance of this product or other indirect damages with respect to loss of property, revenue or profit, or cost of removal, installation or reinstallation.

Wattstopper garantit que ses produits sont exempts de défauts de matériaux et de fabrication pour une période de cinq (5) ans. Wattstopper ne peut être tenu responsable de tout dommage consécutif causé par ou lié à l'utilisation ou à la performance de ce produit ou tout autre dommage indirect lié à la perte de propriété, de revenus, ou de profits, ou aux coûts d'enlèvement, d'installation ou de réinstallation.

Wattstopper garantiza que sus productos están libres de defectos en materiales y mano de obra por un período de cinco (5) años. No existen obligaciones ni responsabilidades por parte de Wattstopper por daños consecuentes que se deriven o estén relacionados con el uso o el rendimiento de este producto u otros daños indirectos con respecto a la pérdida de propiedad, renta o ganancias, o al costo de extracción, instalación o reinstalación.



© Copyright 2023 Legrand All Rights Reserved. © Copyright 2023 Tous droits réservés Legrand. © Copyright 2023 Legrand Todos los derechos reservados.

No. 29188 - 05/23 rev. 2

800.879.8585 www.legrand.us/wattstopper